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ORAL HISTORY-
RICHARD M. SCAMMON

This is an interview conducted on
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Census Bureau director Richard
M. Scammon [May 1961-January
1965]. The interviewer is
Frederick G. Bohme, Chief,
History Staff, Data User Services
Division.

Bohme:

Scammon:

Bohme:

Scammon:

Dick, tell me a littl e bit about your background , how this tied into the
Census Bureau, and how you got caught coming to Census Bureau as
director.

Well, let me badk up o it. | was bom and raised in Minneapolis Minnesota |
wert to a pivate £hod in Minneapolis-StPau and finished high schod in Chica-
go. There my fathe was gpointal for a kyea say arourd 1930 or 1931 | went
badk to Minnesoa and dd my undergradua work, graduate in 1935 and then dd
a yea a the University of Londa with [Harold Lask and [Hermar) Finer. After
that | came adk to Minnesoé and finished up my graduaé work & the University
of Michigan unde Professo James Rollock, who was its gecialid in dectiors and
political parties This had been my own interes from a \ery early age.

Were you a politica | scienc e major in school?

Yes; | have both my BA and MA in political sciene with ecializatios in dec-
tions and political parties which I'm 4ill doing. After | graduate from Michigan
in the simme of 1938 | wert bad briefly to Minneso& for my doctord work. |
neve did finish that becaus in 1939 | wert to the University of Chicag to work
as an associae poduce of a radio program very well known & that time, called
“University of Chicagp Roundtabl€. You may or may not remembeit, but it was
a precurso of all of the talk shows row on television—tle dscussio prograns any-
way. | was in Chicag for 2 years | didn’t go eheal with the gaduaé work then,
but my plan was tha when the than@ gopeared!| would probabl take the degree
at Chicago.

What intervened was the war. In 1941, | went into the Army. | volunteered (I
would have been drafted at my age, being single and in good health). | was in the



Army from 1941 to 1946. | served in several infantry divisions in training and
then was assigned to Civil Affairs Military Government School at the University

of Wisconsin. | went through a quick course there, went overseas, and was
stationed at a couple of places in England while the servicemen were waiting for
the invasion to take place: Shrivenham in the West of England; we were in
Manchester in the North of England; we were in Eastbourne on the Channel, very
pleasant. We didn’t do much, but what do you do when you are waiting? About
4 or 5 weeks after the invasion on the beaches in France, we were sent over and
sat around what used to be called a “reppo deppo’—a replacement depot. In this
kind of operation, you simply were waiting, that’s all you did.

We did finally mobilize and they sent us out to Strasbourg, where we were
organized into a small I-type detachment of three officers, five enlisted men, and
two jeeps and a three-quarter-ton truck. You had to be mobile; you piled all your
stuff into the truck and the people into the truck and jeep, and off we went. We
started out in that area of Alsace-Lorraine as a civil affairs team. We were not in
occupied territory. As a civil affairs team, we had a couple of small villages there
across the Rhine when the situation warranted. We must have been in half a
dozen little places, ending up in norther Wurttemberg in a little town called Bad
Mergentheim, which was very pleasant because it was a spa, like all the other
Bads—Bad Homburg and the rest—where the people used to take the baths, the
salts, and the waters, whatever it might be.

| was working there with these three officers, five enlisted men, and three trucks.
At that time my old professor, Jim Pollock, was down in Stuttgart as head of the
regional government coordinating office (a term used in the military government
to be the team in the absence of a national team). His team coordinated the three
occupied German states in the American zone. He wanted me to come down as a
political officer. Fine, so down | went, and | stayed there maybe a year; then |
went up to Berlin again. An old colleague of mine, Ed Litchfield (who was later

to become Chancellor Litchfield at the University of Pittsburgh) and | were
graduate students at the University of Michigan. Ed was under Jim Pollock, who
was head of [General Lucius] Clay’s staff operation in civil government. Ed
Litchfield wanted me to come up and do elections and political parties. Of

course, | was happy to do that.



Bohme:

Scammon:

Bohme:

Scammon:

This was General Clay?

Yes, this was Gener&Clay, a wonderfu person really; | think he is ane d the men
| would admire nog in history. He wes a frst-rae dficer. As a dvilian, he was an
engineer he really wasnt “military” in the dd n® d the word, but you rever
knew that In any event | servad thele an what was alled OMGUS, the Cffice d
Military GovernmenUS, Civil Administratian Division, as ief of the Hections
and Parties Branch | srval there until 1948 when my friends and olleagues
(whom I'd known from Minnesota were d the Departmenof State asked me if I'd
be interestd in coming bad to Washington.

| hadn’t really pondered this seriously. Obviously, | wasn’t going to be in military
government the rest of my life so | had better get out of it. Of course, it now was
1948, so | said, “Yes; what do you want me to do?” They wanted me as chief of
what was called the Division of Research for Western Europe. So back | came,
and from 1948 to 1955 | was the director of that division. It was in the State
Department’s Office of Intelligence Research, then headed by Park Armstrong as
Assistant Secretary for Intelligence. | might have stayed in there, about that time
we were discussing the possibility of doing what has becamerican Votes

now in its 19th volume. This is a biennial book of American election statistics.

Were you under civil servic e then, or “ Schedul e C’? What was your
standing?

| was uinde cvil service in the Sate Departmentbut you might recal abou that
time in the md-1950’s they analgamatd the two [i.e., with the Foreigh Service].
Tha had a @rtan dfect on my decision becaus & nuch as | respectd the For-
eign Service | did not wart to be living aut of a suitcase—professioh&rave of 3
yeas here and 4 yeas in Taiwan 4 yeas in Ottawag or whateve it might be. |
wanted to continue my own particula area d expertise a lot of peopk might not be
interestd in it but | was 0 this wes a are gportunity.

What happened was that Litchfield had arranged a grant from the Stern Family
Fund in Louisiana. Edgar Stern, Sr., was a well known businessman there and
they made a grant that enabled me to go with the Government Affairs Institute as
its Election Office’s director of elections research.

So, | became independent, incorporated with a board of directors, and called the
Elections Research Center. Litchfield and | were on good relations all the time
until his death. He was Kkilled in a plane crash; went down off that little private
field just outside of Chicago on Lake Michigan. Right about where Soldiers Field



is, there is a small field for private aircraft. Something went wrong; the brakes
locked or something. It killed him and all aboard. Very interesting guy; | have
often wondered what would have happened to Litchfield if he had not been in that
plane, because he had lots of ideas and plans and was very much a “mover and
shaker” type.

In any event, from 1955 on | have been at the Elections Research Center. | have a
small staff; | still have a collaborator, Alice B. McGillivray. We closed our
downtown office several years ago to save that $4,000-a-month rent. The

royalties on a book like mine are not big enough to cover that expense, so we
moved my quarters out here. Itis very pleasant, | must say, when | meet, for
example, somebody like you, | don’t have to meet in the wilds of downtown
Washington. You don’t have as many intriguing lunches at the Cosmos Club but
you can get down there anytime.

So this is where | am now producing copies of the bAaokerica Votes Number

19 is the latest one; | am just doing what | want to do. | don’t know how many
people at my age of 76 can say that they are still active, still doing what they want
to do without a great deal of funding, but they get enough for income.

Bohme: How did you get drawn into the Census Bureau? In 1955, it looked as
if you were going to do this for the rest of your life.

Scammon: In 1960 &ter the dection of Presidem John F Kennedy| had known the ©-called
“Irish Mafia’ pretty well-especiajl Richard Maguire and Kenry O'Donnell. Ma-
guire asked me if | would be interestd in Censis work; they were going to make a
political appointmem as Director.

Bohme: What was Maguire’ s positio n in the Administration?

Scammon: He had no ormd position but he was ane d Presidem Kennedys ety close alvi-
sors He hed been with him from the very beginnirg when they started aut there in
Massachusett®d mary yeas ggo, and ODonnel had the same kind of relationship.
| think, as with any man in public life, John Kenneg sort of held onto that core o
the dd guard Being Censis Bureal drecta was rot a psition which was much
sough ater. With no dsrespetto the Bureay peopk were ot after that job like
they would be for Secretay of State From wha Dick told me (s | remembeit),
the Rresidem knew my work. | met him once a twice; | stayed in there ane full
[presidentigl term throudh 1965 which was the Kenned term and first abbreviated
term of Lyndan Johnson In 1965 | talked to Secretay of Commercel can't re-
membe how briefly, and then | was asked to visit with Presidem Johnson | came



down to he White House and he asked me if | would be interestd in gaying on. |
explainal tha | had not really been guided throudh bureaucrag as a @reer | had
bee in the Sate Departmenbut it was rot really what | wanted to do; the Hection
Resears Cente was exactly what | wantel to do. So he ddn’t argue with me; he
just said, “Well, if tha is wha you wart to do, OK, but you think about it.” |
though abou it a day or two but nothing really changel my mind. It had nothing
to do with the Gensws Bureauy tha was fine. If | had not had the work tha | had
wantal to do to retum to, | would have been hapypy to say there dthough of
course as a wlitical appointee | would have gone aut as oon & the Democrats—
well, ectually as 0N &8 bhnson—-wehout. Even if Johnsm had been succeeded
by who knows how mary Democratt presidentsl might have gone aut a the dea-
sure d any one It was drictly “at the deasue d the president.”

Bohme: Let me take you into a coupl e of other areas. One, | would like to have
you talk a bit more about is the 4 years you spent at the Census
Bureau and how you dealt with the Departmen t [of Commerce ] and
with Congress . Also, if you have time, you might like to talk about
Hubert Humphre y and some of the other well-know n peopl e that you
have been associate d with.

Scammon: Well, as far as the Bureal is mncernedlooking bad on it for those 4 yeas ad re-
memberiig tha this is 2 or 30 yas o, | don't really recal we hed any particular
squabbls with Congress The 1960 DecenniaCensis wes jud over, and we had
no agumern abou readjustmenor abou estimatirg & you had this lag time. No-
body even though aou it, or if they did, they didn’t think it was a tinction of im-
portance 0 there was ro problem there There were a bt of questiors tha came in
from membes d Congres with respetto ther districts and we gave them every
bit of informatian tha we @uld. If | could & tha time, | would med with the Con-
gressma nmysef and | could ask him some political questiors and make sme om-
mert abou his dstrict: “How did you make aut with the rew county you got?’ In
an intriguing way, they were dways fdeasel by this, becaus d leas they thought,
“Here is a gty who & lea$ knows ssmethirg ébou wha he is talking ebout He
isn’t some academe datistician who is talking éou the z airve d the xy orbit or
whateve it may be.”

| really don’t remember any bad scenes with any Member of Congress. We had
more difficulty with the municipal people, the mayors and so on, who had to have
special censuses. | said they could if they wanted to pay for them. (Is that still



Bohme:

Scammon:

Bohme:

Scammon:

the rule? [Yes.] It makes sense; otherwise everybody is going to ask for a census
every 3 months.)

But all that worked pretty well, really. | think the reason, as | said, was that first
of all I was a political appointee. The Democratic Members of Congress knew |
was, and so they figured, “This guy must be in here because he must be a good
Democrat, so we don’t want to argue with him. Let's see what we can get.” They
would come around, and they would recommend people. In taking the census, in
general it is quite customary for this to be regarded as a matter of political
patronage. For special censuses and things of that sort, though, it isn’t really that
important, so there wasn’t the kind of pressure that perhaps there was in 1960.
My predecessor [Robert W. Burgess] was a Republican; I'm sure he got a lot of
pressure to put in the “right people.” Often times—at least from what I've
understood—that was turned over to the local party people. Sometimes they could
pick up good people, but a lot of times they didn’t want to take the time.

I may have forgotten because of the passage of time, but | don’t really recall any
irate Congressman or any staff members coming over and calling me up and
saying we have a problem and I’'m going to come right out and get this settled. 1
think they knew enough about me—not a great deal, of course, to know this was a
political appointment made by the President. Therefore, there must be some
“clout” there or the guy wouldn’t have done it in the first place, and they figured |
knew something about it. Some of them knew my book, or at least the staff
people had seen it. So there wasn’t this assumption you get from the politicians
sometimes that a man in a sort of technical position in the Government is going to
be appointed, or this is a bureaucrat who is going back to be a college professor,
and so on.

How about the [House ] oversigh t committee ? | think you had one
then; Ed Goldfield , | know, got the thing started , | was thinkin g it was
just before you got there.

It may not have keen called that Smply becaus it was institutionalizel within the
Bureay and Ed amply regardd it as Bureai ectivity.

Well, institutionalize din Congress .. ..

Oh, you mean the much broade one | thougt you meart the oversigh commit-

tee—somethip Ed had ort of maneuverd then We reve had any questiors ha |
can recal from the generdoversigh function exercisel in Congress | think that

the reasm for that is tha we reve were really tha important There ae lots d



peopk involved in goeratiors in Congres and in the field, and we hed a bt more
controversy—crira and punishmentfor example welfare food gamps dl these
kinds d things But [the eensu$was Drt of, | don't mean to ourd denigratory—
I'm in the same rt, datisticd and dy and £ on. The membes d Congres would
pay atentian to it really only when it affected them or ther districts In ather
words they would be very conscios d this when you got around to reapportion-
mert time. | have tat time in 1961, but it's interestiig you ddn’t have then dl this
talk abou term limits, justice and reapportionment It was a wlitical tak and d-
mog everyore aceptel it as that We know tha now in 1991, the rumbe of States
that have really had earth-shakig battles over reappointmehnis pretty small. Ob-
viously, the® involve the mes tha have qainad population or sood dill but ad-
vancel enoudh not to lose ay of ther population When you looe ae a two
seas in the House d Representativeshe majority of the membes jug get together
ard agree an which two o ther colleagues ae thrown togethe and who will be
thrown to he wolves o they make a etal In ather words they may go to a nan
and sy, “We’'ll get you some party job,” or “We have a @enirg for an associate
justice m the gopellak ourt and you've keen here 10 years John Why don’t you
take it eas/ for a while? There is a rice pensian on the job and you have srved 10
years Quit and you're dected for 20-yea term or wha ever the wile for judges
may be” Normally, when you ae cealing with the membes d Congressthese
kinds d problens ae aljustable In any event the arerage mwngressmais really a
produd of the dd Johnsm philosophy “Cone let us reasm together, or whatever
philosoply you wart to call it, “Let’s talk this aut; let's cme b an greement.”

This is the normal way Congress works. It isn’t like a parliamentary body in
Europe, where you get a socialist bloc on one side and a capitalist bloc on the
other and the Communists way out in left field, and maybe a liberal intellectual
bloc in the middle. These are just bloc votes to vote solid one way or another. If
you have any input at all, it's within the party caucus and not in the House of
Commons, say, or the Chamber of Deputies. These people are really
representatives and they represent their districts. They negotiate all of these
things.

Sometimes people who write about politics seem to find a necessity for promoting
ideological confrontations. You try to point out what advantages you’ve got from
your colleagues’ point of view and from your own point of view. | think that any
Director who understands that is the nature of Congress should not have much



difficulty with Congress. You just adjust to what molds to it. If you are Director,
and if any Member calls, you talk to him. You don't let anybody else talk to him
because you want the member to feel that you are concerned. You know enough
in advance; you can bone up a little on the particular districts. Just being able to
talk in some way, not as an expert, with these people is helpful. | don’t know if
Barbara [Bryant] or the people who have been [in the Director’s position]
between me and Barbara do that now.

Bohme: | suppos e it makes a differenc e if the Administratio nis of a different
party than the majorit y of Congress . Would you say that has some
bearing?

Scammon: I'd have b lodk bad a the ook, but my impressiao is tha the Democras were in
the majority dl the ime tha | was & Census The majority party, with a mrembe of
ther party as head o the Gensis Bureay fed tha they have an nsice radk anyway.
Even then in the first place unless it's really importarn to the Membe of Congress,
mog of your negotiatirg as a Drecta is going to be with ome daffers They call
you up and |y, “I'm bhn Jones I'm with Congressma Snith’s gaff and we have
a question on which we hope you can help uis” Well, tha is a @od gpenirg be-
caug light avay you know this is rot a @nfrontation This is a gy who wants
somethingand 2 you say, “Certainly Would you like © come an in and we will
talk abou it?’ If it is involved you med for lunch—jus ordinary, good manners,
respetfor the aher man’s job and responsibility becaus he las hs responsibility
to his Gongressmanlf you trea him right, he will probabl trea you better That
sound rt of Pollyannaish but it works.

You are right about the major points. Obviously, you [as Director] are a
Democrat and they are Democrats, or if you are a Republican and they are
Republicans, it will work. There is a little more grease to the jar to begin with.

Bohme: How about the Department ? You must have had to deal with some
peopl e down there.

Scammon:  Not much really.

Bohme: Did they leave you alone?

Scammon:  Well, the physicd separatio is really important the Gensis Bureau wasnt in the
Departmenof Commere kuilding. We hed a dfice down there which weas daffed
during that period Hlen Largent dso on my daff, came aut and worked with me
in the Bureau Hlen was a \ety good front persa becaus e got dong with



peopk and worked in the Departmehof Commerce | think we may gill have that
office in the main building.

Bohme: | think we have a room down there.

Scammon: It may have keen anly a oom you're right. | don't believe $e hed a €cretary
down there | think she was her own s=cretay and we hed ome dsplays down
there in the basement Are they Hill there?

Bohme: They are probabl y over in the great hall if they are anywhere.

Scammon: Thatmay well be, but in any event as | |y, looking bad a those 4 yeas ayain in
terms d dealings with Congressl fourd tha this was rot only not a problem but |
kind o enjoyed it. | sharel a bt of the interes$ they had o things political and dec-
toral We would gart on one d those problems like we reed a pecid censis ke-
caug the own o “Gizmd was ging to annex “Gizmo minor,” and we wart to get
a good body court so we know wha kind of figures we ae talking eout can you
help cut? We wsually could work it out, unless it was smethirg ggantic like New
York City wanting a pecid census Tha would be a poblem.

Bohme: Did you report to the Under Secretar y for Economi ¢ Affairs ? | realize
that they have changed these positions.

Scammon: Intheory | did. Luthe Hodges wes the Secretay when | was there He anme aut
to the Bureau once a mayle twice in the 4 years and | visited hm once a twice.
It's the dd gory tha if it is rot broke don'’t fiddle with it. If the Gensis Bureau
was working and nobody was raisirg any questiors and everybod/ seemel happy,
there were a bt of othe problens I'm sure Hodges hed to ded with tha were a bt
more ontroversiband demandiig of his dtention.

| presume and | believe that it is still true: the physical separation, the fact that
you are out in Suitland, Maryland. Hodges did come out maybe once or twice
and spoke to the assembly or something of that sort. But again, that was good.
He was a former governor of North Carolina, as | recall, and a good administrator.
You realize this is a major task in administration—finding out where you have to
put your time and you only have so much. Where do you invest this time?
Obviously, you invest it where the problems are, and | don’t think we had many
problems, mainly because there was no decennial census taken while | was there.



Bohme:

Scammon:

Bohme:

Scammon:

Bohme:

Scammon:

Well, that would help, althoug h you did have some economic
censuses . If | remember correctly , the census of governments

include s a certain tabulatio n of votin g electe d officials . Did you have
anythin g to do with that?

Yes, but tha was a egula thing and it gopeard in the Statistica Abstractthen It
still does and it was ot controversial There were questiors &ou it, and I'm sure
we dscussd it in the Bureas & the tme, but it is rot the knd o thing tha would
ring bells a fly flags in the olitical world of the average membe of the House,
ard to a bsse extent the Snate There if you have a 6yea term, it is urprising
how tha can calm you down. The lag two yeass you may be working like sn to
g¢ reelectedbut the House Membe has got to be working constantly.

As you know, normally in the House of Representatives, half the staff of the
Congressman'’s office do no work on policy at all; they just do constituent service.
| remember when my wife turned 65, we had to write a letter to the Social
Security Administration. We got hold of our Congressman [Connie] Morella (she
is a Republican, not a Democrat) and somebody called right back. You know
these are voters so they are going to take care of you; this is what the average
congressman is concerned with. The average senator isn't; he is talking about
foreign policy or iron mining in Northern Minnesota, or getting more highway
money for his State. He is really not that much interested in what is going on; he
should be, but isn't.

What about appropriation s from Congress?

We testified each year and as far as | an recall we probabl won some and lost
some | don't recall though any grand gruggle ather negative a positive where
we were trying and dd get consideral# and substantihincreass in money or vice
versa | ddn’'t have b gerd o submit a ludge involving the taking o the en-
suse (which was in 1960) The g of mog of the dher censuse we ten and dill
do take wes relatively minor. A lot of them were cbre by mail in any event Do
we dill take ensuse d religious odies?

No; that hasn’t been done since 1936.

Theredso were snaller and less importart censuse jug built into the fabric o the
Bureau | would not have known ebou the® wnless there was ome aitical issue,
for example as if somebog made a ged isste bday abou whethe a ertan cen-
sus hed a acid or particularly religious daracterization—Catholié¥otestant Jew-
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Bohme:

Scammon:

ish, Muslim, or whatever | don’t remembetha kind of controvery within the Bu-
reau o with Congress.

Let's talk about people in the Bureau. For example, Ross Eckler, |
think , was your Deputy Director.

He was indeel a irst-rake person | much respectd Ross and we got dong very
well. | was very happy when | left, to recommed (how often hes tis keen dore in
the Bureaus hstory? tha a lureaucratto use tha word, succeel me. Rerhas be-
caug [PresiderjtJohnsm wes re-electe and was facel with marny importart prob-
lems who would be the Bureaus Directar was rot a najor issue It would have
been dfficult, | think, for anyore © come in and sy, “Well, Scammons &m is
over, you know; I'd like the job” That point was reve mace © me and, as | |y, |
dont think they really even though of this. From wha Johnsm told me and the
White House mntacs | hed before that they jus wanted me © day on. They had
othe fish to fry; if this ting was %t and the men that [Presideritkenneg ap-
pointed was willin g to day on, fine;, forgd that and move a to somethirg vital.

With that in mind, | think that when | suggested Eckler, who was a civil servant,
nonpartisan, there was no reason not to nominate him if | didn’t want to stay. In
my case, | simply felt that as much as | like the Bureau, my basic interest was still
in elections, political parties, and in my books. | wanted to get back to them full
time instead of just sort of doing them on the weekend, and | did. Eckler was an
ideal person to suggest because he was noncontroversial. | don’t even know if he
was a registered Republican or Democrat; he couldn’t very well have been a
registered Republican—they would be stuck a little on that—but he never raised a
question.

| remember that conversation with Johnson. He was a very persuasive guy; he
could charm the proverbial birds out of the tree trunks, not to say the tree
branches; but, in any event, that went ahead without much difficulty. I testified at
[Eckler’s] confirmation hearing; | remember that there were a couple of desultory
questions, but nobody really gave a lot of attention. That’s one of the great
advantages the Bureau has—except in this recent discussion over estimating.
Happily that didn’t have to be solved by Director Bryant; that issue was solved by
the Secretary of Commerce and it should have been a political thing. Dr. Barbara
Bryant, of course, is a political appointee too as | was, but the Secretary of
Commerce is a lot more political than the Census Bureau, or should be.
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| have had no input since then. | wasn’t asked about whether | have much of a
thought about who was, for example, to succeed Eckler, because, of course, then
it became a Republican appointee after [Hubert] Humphrey’s defeat. In any
event, it didn’t seem to be any problem, and I've not really heard of any problem
in the years since—any fight over the job, or hearings in Congress, or bellowing
back and forth; | don’t recall any.

Bohme: | remember that the America n Statistica | Associatio n (ASA) was
somewha t oppose d to Vinc e Barabba’s appointmen t as Director.

Scammon: Thatdoes gick in the badk of my mind.

Bohme: How did you get along with the ASA?

Scammon:  Well, | had problens with them that | can recall Again | think theres a easa for
that | was a nembe of the ASA; | don't know whethe Barabla wes a was rot.
But | was a nembe of the ASA and | had producel datisticd work, s there was
nobody who said, “Well, he isnt a @llege eacherbut a leas he’s got lots o publi-
cations. The aedi list goes back—bu that's pretty good and | think tha was ny
nihil obstat really, as far as the ASA was mncerned | was a egitimae datistician;
in fact | was a tllow, | think, in the ASA.

Bohme: During your 4 years as Director , then with Eckler sort of runnin g the
day-to-da y affairs , what did you usually spend your time at—fielding
calls from Congressmen’ s offices?

Scammon: A surprising anourt of it was jud that or meetirg with Congressme down on the
Hill-you know, they gave the Directa a @r, and | was 2pping badk and forth to
there a bt. Some d thee werent very important but, as | iold Ross d the ime, “If
you get a @all from a ngressmaret me talk to hm, because—numib@ne—he
wans © talk to the Drector He probaby doesnt wart to talk to the Deput Direc-
tor. Let me talk to hm becaus I'l| know somethirg ebout his dstrict and | can talk
to him aou that If I'm going to call him back & leas I've got five nminutes
look him up in the CongressiongDirectory. | might look in my book and say,
“Gee, he mly won by 5000 votes he nud be in trouble; tha sort of thing, and, a&
least | can talk his languagé. And that was fine with Ross | mean [he ddn't]
wart to talk to thee quys.

Let me put it this way: If there were problems, and I'm sure there were problems,
they were never of a level which stick in my mind. We had nothing, given the
time of decade, about the estimating problems that Dr. Barbara Bryant has
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had—nothing. We used to get congressional calls, and we used to send them a lot
of material, too. | remember, going over some of my old correspondence files,
that there were quite a few [items] in there that had the “congressional” tag on
them that the secretaries put on as soon as we got the letter. They were usually
“thank-you letters” for information supplied, or a map of the district, or latest data
or something of that sort. We made an effort; anytime we had something that
affected a Congressman, we’d send it to him. And | guess either they or their
staff appreciated that. Now mind you, if they’d had problems, | believe they'd
have had no hesitancy in calling on me, because they knew who ran the shop and
who voted the money. | don't really recall any problems, although we must have
had some small ones.

How about personne | problems ? For example, did you have any
particula r controversie s with the union at the time?

Wasther a srike there & that time a was tha over? | hink tha was in the com-
munity; | jug don’t remember Mog of the personnéstuff, again would have keen
handlel by Eckler. The cay-to-day sort of bureaucrat work, | would have fied to
stay awvay from. Now obviously if it got to be aitical-if we'd had an amed picket
line aourd the Genss Bureay I'm aure | would have known Mary in the trade
union movementlike the late Al Barkan and Lare Kirkland and 9 on, were friends
of mine. [Barkar] was for quite a vhile the head of COPE the Committee an Rolit-
ical Education and | poke & some d the wion meetings As far as the unions
were oncernedl was regarde as friendly, and | was a Bemocrat a leas | wasn't
an enemy | wasnt per se quilty of being an the wong dde d the fence.

| seem to remember, shortl y after | got there in 1968, we had a group
withi n the Bureau called the Invaders—i t was a Black group, sort of a
marshallin g of or a heightenin g of consciousness.

No; | don't recal any of tha sort of action while | was there | don't believe we
had a hgh percentag d Black employees in the Gensis Bureau | imagire we had
as mary as you hed in mog of the what you might call professionaorganizatios o
the Government But for datisticiars and 0 on, & tha point in ime the rumbe of
Blacks who would have been qualified o fill those jobs wes imited. They were
almog dl civil service of course s you took the exam and [gat hired]. We really
had not tha much contrd over it nor did | wart to have contrd over it. There was
one political appointes there tha was fine with me. | don’t know how Ross viewed
that becausedf course he ransferre from the avil service © the political service
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when he becane Director | think my personasecretarie were dl political. . . hat
doesnt mean they were political, excep for Ellen Largert and Alice McGillivray,
who’d come over with me from the Bectiors Researh Center But the regular
peopk there—thg may have keen called “political,” but then tha wouldn't make a
difference.

OK. Would you like to talk about Hubert Humphrey ? Quite off the
subjec t of the Census Bureau. . . .

| remembe Humphre very well becaus we vere toth & the University of Minne-
sota dou tha time, and he was a lright yourg fellow from South Dakota | re-
membe him & an uitlander,as a autsider A very specific picture in my nind is
the meetirg of s gudert liberak a the Minneso& Union. Humphrey served on the
outsice d the goup, listenirg and asking a question o two, bright-eyel and bushy-
tailed but you wouldn't have pgcked him out as the man who was really going to
male a rame for himself. Then late on (he wes gill at the wiversity), we were
living in outheasMinneapolis nea the wniversity and | used t0 go over to a gace
called Brown’s Drugstoe every night arourd 9 a 10 dclock to get a ke Hubert
was a ®da jerk then & Brown’s Drugstore he was working his way throudh ool-
lege | used to St up a the wunte and we’d talk politics for half an hour or so. |
dont know whethe Brown ever got mad & it or not, but he ddn’t say anything
abod it; Humphre was a @od s0da jerk So, we knew each ahe well, long be-
fore he @t into politics.

As a matter of fact, | remember | was in the Army when Hubert ran for mayor of
Minneapolis and was elected, and | was amazed. | had underestimated his
energy—just plain, bull energy, you know, get up and run, run, run, run, run, run,
run, all day long, 15 hours a day, if necessary. | remember voting absentee in that
election; you know, if Hubert runs, | am going to vote for him. We could still

vote absentee because | was still in the United States as | recall when he was first
nominated for mayor. Then, of course, he went on to be a Senator,
Vice-President, and ran for President. As he rose higher in the political spectrum,
we used to see each other occasionally, but | obviously did not know him as well
as | did at Brown’s Drugstore. He had other fish to fry, and | wouldn’t want to
Impose on his time. But we used to see each other. We were at the Humphreys’
house usually about once a year, and | think they came over here once or twice,
and we had mutual friends. My cousin, Bill Simms, was his AA [administrative
assistant], and he’d been his secretary when Humphrey was mayor of
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Minneapolis. So, | sort of reestablished my connection with Humphrey through
Simms at that time. So, we used to see them fairly frequently, and Humphrey
used to come down occasionally to the woods, not far from Front Royal. There
was some Federal land there on which you would build a house, sort of a
cabin-type thing. Simms did that, and Humphrey often would come down and
visit with him over the weekend. It got him away from the hurly-burly of
Washington and he must have been down there four or five times when we were
down there, visiting, talking.

So, we knew Hubert pretty well. But less so as he got higher up the ladder, and
less so as i¢e-President, and less so when he was campaigning for the
presidency, because he was frying a lot of very big fish then, and it was just not
personal acquaintance. You wouldn’t want to bother Humphrey unless you really
had something to say. But | have a great regard for Humphrey. He was not an
intellectual in the normal sense of the word. You never think of him as a college
professor. But he had a rare instinct for the public, and he had a rare ability to
conceptualize very complicated governmental schemes into very specific things
for people. He was a very warm person; it was a tragedy when we lost him.

I'd like to ask you a questio n that we'll put off the record if y ou wish.
As a long-tim e Democrat and observe r and participan t in elections , do
you have any comment s on the presumptiv e lineup of Democrat s for
19927

| do not really regad nmysef as a Bemocrain the rormd sen® d the word. I'm a
Farmer-Laborite When | grew up in Minnesoa & a oy, there were three political
parties Democrati¢ Republican and Farmer-Labar Republicals were a onserva-
tive party. The Democras were really heavily Irish and German-Catholic Farmer-
Laborities were the dd Northwes Progressive like the Nonpartisa Leagee in
North Dakot and 9 on—endeng to tha aea When | first voted in 1936 in the
primaries and the dection | would dways “cal in” the gimaries for a Farmer-La-
bor ballot, becaus | regarde mysef Farmer-Labar But then the twvo—Demaocrat,
Farmer-Labor—mergeds you would exped in a najority eectord system because
it's jugt too much—tte figures et too complicated Now they didn’t do ha in Wis-
consin where te Rogressive hed therr own party too, and they jud died out. And
now on the allot in Minnesoa you get Democratic-Farmer-LaborSo | didn't real-
ly fed tha close b the Democratt establishmehin Minneso# becaus & a oy I'd
always identified it as a ®rt of German cente party, Deutscle Zentruns Rartej in-
cluding a eligious viewpoint But then of course with Roosevelt the whole rend
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of the Democratt Party changel anyway It becane nore a less the liberd flay-
flyer in the American political constellation even despie its Southen wing. And
then when you've got heaw voting from Black and wish voters this would d-
ways podue an additiond push for tha camp.

| suppose the reason that the question is difficult to answer is that | have never
been a believer in the doctrinal explanation of American politics. The fact is that
with the primary system of making nominations, pragmatism wins out over
principle every day in the week. For example, when the House of
Representatives gathers after they’ve been elected and they meet on the first day
and they vote for a Speaker, every Democrat votes for the Democrat and every
Republican votes for the Republican. That's about the last time that any roll call
shows all the Democrats on one side and all the Republicans on the other. If you
get, for example, a question about cotton, any Southern member, Republican or
Democrat, is going to be a protectionist. And if you get something regarding
importation of farm produce, you’re going to get the same thing in the North, say
North Dakota, Minnesota, Wisconsin. You bet they’re going to fight for their
people. If you get questions involving coal, every coal-mining district in America
IS a vote against any foreign import of foreign coal to the United States, and it
doesn’t make any difference whether they're Republicans or Democrats. You
come from a Jewish area, you're pro-Israel. You come from a Black area, you're
pro-Black. Now those are mainly Democrats, but they don’t have to be. I've
always felt myself that you really have in Congress 435 independents, some of
whom are labeled Republicans and some of whom are labeled Democrats, for
convenience’s sake. One could say that those who vote liberal in the Congress
will probably be more on the Democrat side than on the Republican and
vice-versa with the conservatives. By no sense of the imagination is this a truism;
it's not a given in the political system. Let me put it another way: Almost every
American national contest for the presidency is decided either by the left of the
right, meaning the right of the left or vice-versa. You don't get extremists.
Occasionally you'll get one like Reagan, who really went in because he was an
actor and because they didn'’t like the other fellow. But usually what you get is a
man who may start doctrinally but edge right to the middle. It doesn’'t mean he
has to go to the 50-yard line, but he has to go at least to the 45-yard line, so that
the area of contest on that football field is not more than 10, 15, or 20 yards. So
what you’re going to get here with Bush—Bush is in good shape; right now, he
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stands almost, | take it, two-to-one. This is right now, and we haven’t gone
through all the primaries and you haven’t gone through all the rest.

Primaries, unfortunately, can be just as defeating as they can be elevating, because
they can also kill people. | think of Gary Hart, for example, who was sort of one

of the great hopes of the liberal intellectuals and he just got clobbered because he
lost, which is why for the politician, you can be anything but you can’t be a loser.

In any event, to get into 1992, you start with Cuomo, who unfortunately has a
major handicap: There are a lot of Americans, | think, who, for the worst possible
reasons, might accept an Irish Catholic, but for the Italian Catholic, you still have
to get over some of that prejudice. That’s all it is, just prejudice, but he’s got that
problem. He also has the problem of being a big-city man, the same problem Al
Smith had so many years ago when he was the first Irish Roman Catholic and
big-city boy to run for president. And you've got lots of others of all varieties,
because there are all sorts of Democrats out there, in all parts of the country—East,
West, North, South, Pacific, Atlantic.

In addition to the locational circumstances, you've got all sorts of political
dogmatics, although most of the potential candidates are again beginning to
position themselves closer to the middle. You see them moving in that way very
nicely on the Democratic side. But, if Cuomo decides to run, which he may very
well not do, among other reasons because he’s been talking about possibly
running again for governor in 1994. If he really means it—he may just be ducking
because he thinks that the next one—1992—is going to be a loser anyway, so wait
until 1996. He may feel that he can sort of solidify himself a little better than he

is now. On the other hand, of course, the old story is that you'd better run when
you can because you're never guaranteed that there isn’t going to be someone else
out there to beat when the next election comes. Take it when you can get it, even
though you're going to lose. At least you would have been a candidate, a
nominee.

Among the others on the Democratic side there are a half a dozen names that you
can rattle off and don’t really mean much. It doesn’t mean that they aren’t
competent people; it doesn’t mean they might not make good candidates, but it
does mean that they’re not really household words in any sense of the word. In
any event, most of the talk you read about in the press about this situation or
that—too much attention to foreign affairs, and so on—is going to trip up Bush. 1

17



doubt that. The only thing that might really trip him up is a bad economic
situation, which could do it as it did, of course, with [Herbert] Hoover.

On the other hand, there’s such a great difference now between America in the
1990’s and America in 1929 and 1930. There are all sorts of devices in place, you
know, in addition to Social Security and unemployment benefits. | would think

that if Bush can escape any major economic trouble, there’s not much that he does
in foreign affairs that’s either going to help or hurt him a great deal. A lot of the
newspapers like to say that, oh, gee, he does not have a “laying on of hands,” and
they say that he’s more interested in foreign affairs than domestic. That’s quite
probably true; that's where he made his name.

| remember the first time | met Bush. He was head of the CIA some years ago,
and foreign affairs always has been his forte. It does not mean he’s going to be
re-elected, not necessarily. The main obstacle to re-election now would be
nothing the Democrats are doing; it would just be the economic situation. You're
getting some of those layoffs now, and if this continues, this recession gets worse
and worse and worse through the winter into the primary season, there won't be
much in challenging to Bush in the Republican Party. That won't happen, but you
can find the Democrats will use it, because it’s by all odds the best weapon
they’ve got to “whang” on Bush, and it's better than them “whanging” on each
other. Because when you start whanging at each other, you have the fellow
Democrats saying, “What are you trying to do, sink the boat before you even get
aboard?” So, they can all follow that, and they’ll probably be pretty successful.

Whether they’ll win in November, of course, depends on many things. |
remember that when | was in the Army, they had a wonderful phrase, “Everything
in combat depends on the terrain and the situation.” You can say that's true in
political combat too.

Bohme: Isn't it true, though , that you go throug h a proces s of eliminatio nin
whic h the candidate s try to knock each other off?

Scammon: That'strue This is e d the poblems and in a €n® it's a @od Stuation, be-
cau® it is rot in a snoke-filled room &s it used to be right before the first war (i.e.,
before they began introducirg a ystem o presidentibpreferene gimaries Now
you've got the lig dassc ane in New Hampshire but you have the caucuss in
lowa first. Thoe @ucusesthough ae gen votes and they're parsey atended,
but you dart with New Hampshire And then you move throudh a bt of big anes
like California, for example and lllinois, Pennsylvaniaand some kig dates hat
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hold presidentiapreferene gimaries Cbviously this is ort of lag man out; in
othe words in each primary, the peoplke who ran unde 10 percen are going to
lose They can't raise ayy more noney, they go aourd to her favorite friends
who have noney and sy, “I need anothe $5,00Q George’; “I’'m drry, Sam,
but...yai know; I've really tappel the ottom;” when he is eally says you haven't
gat a dhance 0 why should | throw any more d my money avay? Ther workers
beghn to go too—the ampaig workers the good ones the peetr writers and the
handlersand the pess representativieand 0 on—they begin to be gproachd by
the nore successfucandidatesand they say, “I'm rry, Sam, I'm sorry to leave
you, but I've got, you know; I've got a wife and four kids. I've got to get on a y-
ched again’ A guy like By Rockefelle could gay in forever You will find that
this list begirs © “chgp down,” and it's rot inconceival® it could “chgp down” to
one by May Day. Tha would be a @od time kecaus I'm dure he® dates have
bea =t dready, usually they've got one in une and one in ly.

Maybe the Republicans will go last in August, because they don’t need much.
The closer they can get their “Hallelujah” session to the election day, the better.
But these are all firm, anyway, because you can’t set up an operation like this with
much less than a couple years’ notice. But, in any event, the real thing you would
look for, politically, is what | would call the “decimation derby” among the
Democrats. The bottom man, usually, if he’s really at the bottom (say 10 percent
of less) in a couple of primaries, he’s pretty well finished. Everybody knows it,

he knows it, his staff knows it, the money people know it, the newspapers know
it. Equally, you pick a fellow like Gary Hart, who did “zoom up” in the New
Hampshire primary; but while others may survive, Gary Hart didn't. They may
survive; they may actually be nominated. Whether they win or lose in the fall is
not the question; they may survive.

But you may get as many as two or three or four leaders in a highly contested race
that you're likely to get from the Democrats, because nobody’s winning by a
landslide. If you win in a field of eight, if you get 55 percent and the others are
down there around 19 and 12 percent—that pretty well does it, because that just
shows everybody that “this guy” is way ahead! | wonder if they’re looking for a
good TV time-buyer” or something of that sort. That is the way it works, and it's
worked that way basically since World War | when the primaries really became
important. There were a few even before that, but they didn't really become
dominant until then.

19



Bohme:

Scammon:

Bohme:

Scammon:

The question, of course, for the Republicans is how do they keep any interest
going in this kind of situation? Being in the White House, if you want to make
any kind of statement about anything, you won’t get much attention if you just
announce “Peony Week” or something of that sort, but you can always take a trip
and that sort of thing. On the other hand, if they’re really fighting each other and
all candidates are bleeding all over the place, you may not want to try to get into
the conflict.

Well, 1 did wantto get your views.

Yes.

Is there anythin g else that you think might be significan t for our chat
this afternoon?

No; you'll probabl think of things & you go oser the manuscript Call me, or we
can (et togethe again as you wish. | think we have gone pretty well over the Bu-
reau & kbureay and we have gone over politics & politics. Actually, of course |
think the saving graae for the Gensis Bureau is that the wo do rot really mix very
much The fad is tha the Bureaus Directors tha | knew and know—ar | think this
has keen true whoeve has keen in—Republica or Democrat—has really been very
responsit# in not making a mlitical plaything out of the Bureau Now this may
just be ter instinct or this may jug be a @mmon-sens evaluatian that they'd get
into more trouble ying, more tan it would be worth, becaus a bt of people
would get really upse if they though tha the gatistics were keing adjusted or
fiddled with. The anly thing that really has ausel that much excitemert | think has
been this dfort of estimating—"theres ro good way of estimating let's go with the
hard counts”—exceptadf course for the peopk who kelieve they might gain because
they have got larger undercountd groups—Hispang and Blacks and 0 on, and hig-
city dum aeas It's hard to undercouha fam aeg everybod/ knows where every-
body is.

For that, however, | think it really has been a pretty good run for the Bureau in the
years that | was there and since, and that is 30 years. | do not really think of the
Bureau as having been a political operation back in the years that | can remember,
say the 1930s, 1940s, 1950s. Nor do | think most Americans do. They might
even be a little puzzled to hear that the head of the Census Bureau is a political
appointee. I'm sure most of them don’t know whether he is or isn’t, other than

the political scientists and activists and, of course, Bureau people themselves. |
think that's the way it should be. You do have political responsibility at the top,
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as you should have, but it's sort of like the British civil services: You're not
expected really to move in and throw your weight around and cause trouble; it is
just as well.

You may think of something. If so, give me a ring.

Bohme: If 1do, I shall, and we certainl y do appreciat e your time this afternoon.

Scammon:  Oh,it's my peasure.
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